**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III Circuit Court Judge**

Appellate Case No. 2019-000362

RECEIVED
SEP 27 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Adele J. Pope, Appellant

v.

Estate of James Brown and The James Brown 2000 Irrevocable Trust,
Respondents

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam T. Silvernail (Bar No. 80219)
Law Office of Adam T. Silvernail, LLC
1905 Marion Street (29201)
Post Office Box 7995
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-7995
(803) 779-1770
adam@silvernailfirm.com

Counsel for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- II. The lower court erred in Failing to Consider the Deposition Testimony of Numerous Witnesses Offered on Reply.
- II. The Lower Court Erred in Admitting an Offer Made by Appellant to Settle this Case and Richland 4900 Into Evidence.
- III. The Lower Court Erred in Making Findings which Conflict both with its Own Previous Rulings and Holdings of the Supreme Court in *Wilson v. Dallas*.
- IV. The Lower Court Erred in Accepting Respondents' *Ex Parte* Filing of their Litigation Billing Records; Not Allowing Appellant to Review Them; and Destroying the Records after the Court Received and Reviewed them.
- V. The January 16, 2019 Order is a Result of the Circuit Court's Bias Against Appellant, which Began Just After the *Wilson v. Dallas* Decision.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 29, 2013, Russell Bauknight, through William Newsome, Esq., served Appellant Adele Pope with a notice of disallowance with notice of impending bar of a joint claim Appellant and Robert Buchanan, Jr. had presented to Respondents, the Estate and 2000 Trust of entertainer James Brown (Estate/2000 Trust), on July 17, 2009. [Protective Claim. Disallowance, p. 1]

Newsome served the notice at the conclusion of a status hearing held by the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III¹ following the May 8, 2013 decision of the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Wilson v. Dallas*, 402 S.C. 411, 743 S.E.2d 746 (2013). The notice stated that the disallowance was issued by Bauknight as special administrator (SA) of the Estate. [Disallow., p. 1]

The notice stated that the joint claim Appellant and Buchanan had filed in 2009 was disallowed in its entirety, and asserted that there was “no way” Buchanan and Pope could have earned the amount they sought in the claim. [Disallow, p.1] The notice stated that Buchanan’s portion of the claim had been settled. [Disallow., p. 1] The notice also stated:

Further, your claim is based on an overinflated, unsubstantiated and self-serving valuation of the probate estate as of the date of Mr. Brown’s death.

You petitioned the court and obtained an Order dated January 8, 2008 allowing payment to yourself and Mr. Buchanan toward your commissions for service as Special Administrators in the amount of \$317,000, plus costs. This payment may now be subject to disgorgement pursuant to the Supreme Court’s opinion in this matter dated May 8, 2013, in which the Court found that you were properly removed as Co-Personal Representative and Co-Trustee for cause.

This claim is disallowed on the basis that the requested fees and commissions were not earned and therefore are not due . . . and that the Estate is entitled to offset for any damages suffered as a result of any maladministration during

¹ The Honorable Doyet A Early, III is referred to herein as the “circuit court”, “Aiken Court” or “Judge Early.” Judge Early presided over all Aiken County James Brown circuit court matters from February 2007 until his retirement in February 2019.

your service as Co-Personal Representative and Co-Trustee.

Failure to protest the disallowance of your claim, (that is, failing to file your petition for allowance...in the Probate Court and failing to commence a proceeding on the claim within thirty days after the service of this Notice of Disallowance . . .), shall result in your claim being forever barred. [Disallowance, p 1]

On June 10, 2013 Appellant filed the complaint in this case (Aiken 1337) in the Probate Court for Aiken County. [Compl., pp. 1 – 63] The complaint attached and incorporated a petition for allowance of claim, which seeks:

All Amounts Requested in the Original Claim and All Relief requested in the Complaint of Which the Petition for Allowance is an Exhibit, all of which is incorporated herein by reference. [Petition for Allowance, p. 1]

The complaint named Buchanan as an “Interested Party” [Comp., p. 1] It sought individual relief against Bauknight, including attorneys’ fees and costs of this action. [Comp., pp. 1, 62, 63]. Restating portions of the claim and documentation presented in 2009, the complaint alleged that Appellant is entitled to a partial personal representative and trustee (PR/Trustee) fee in the liquidated amount of \$1,473,550 which was due on May 26, 2009 under a court-approved contract she and Buchanan have with Respondents; the unpaid portion of her 2007 SA fee of \$47,972; and interest on both amounts as set out in an order of the Aiken Court dated January 8, 2008 (Payment Order). [Complaint, p. 3] The complaint and claim seek attorneys’ fees and costs. [Complaint, pp.62-63]

The 2013 complaint alleged in part:

This case now stands – alone or consolidated with the Dallas Claims Case – as the appropriate and efficient forum under *Wilson v. Dallas* to determine:

(1) The Fiduciary Commissions, if any, of Russell; Adele; Bob; [Albert] Dallas;

...[David] Cannon and..[Alfred] Bradley²;

(2) The payment/disgorgement of attorneys' fees paid or promised by Russell;

(3) The payment of attorneys who served Bob and Adele, [Complaint, p. 3]

The complaint describes the service of Buchanan and Pope from March 7, 2007 through May 8, 2013, and alleges breaches of fiduciary duty of Bauknight under the Will and 2000 Trust.

It contains more than twenty headings, including:

Background Facts – James Brown [Comp., pp. 5 -11];

Bob and Adele's Service [Comp., pp. 11 – 13];

The Crisis at Beech Island (Mr. Brown's Home Estate) [Comp., pp. 13 -14];

Estate and Income Tax Issues [Comp., pp. 14 -15];

The Declaratory Judgment Case [Comp. p. 16];

Tangible Personal Property [Comp. pp. 16 -17];

The Christie's Sale [Comp. pp. 17-18]

Application for Recognition of the "I Feel Good" Trust and Steps to Correct Tax Problems caused by the Cannon/Dallas Group [Comp., pp. 18-19];

Protection of Publicity Rights and Royalties [Comp., pp. 20-22]

Royalty and Related Clearance Requests [Comp., pp. 22]

Engaging Entertainment & Exempt Organization, Other Counsel [Comp., pp. 22-25]

Defense of Claims Against Estate/Trust [Comp. p. 26];

Preventing Forlando's³ Attempt to Enjoin the 2000 Trust and Return the Cannon Group as Trustees [Comp., pp. 27 – 31];

The Effect of Service as PR/Trustees on Bob's and Adele's Careers; [Comp., pp. 31-32]

The August 10, 2008 Settlement and Bob's and Adele's Duty to Appeal [Comp., pp. 33-35];

Russell, Case 4900 and the Attorney General's Office [Comp. pp. 35, 36];

Pursuing the Cannon Appeal [Comp., pp. 37, 38];

Defense of the Estate Plan and Other "Family" Claims; [Comp., pp. 38-40];

Sale of the Joseph Brown House; [Comp., pp. 40. 41];

The March 2009 Offer of Compromise [Comp., pp. 41-45]

² Bradley served as a trustee under Brown's 2000 Trust from its creation until his resignation on November 20, 2007. [Compl., p. 27] He died in 2010, and was paid no personal representative or trustee (PR/Trustee) commission. [Memo PSJ, 7/24/14, p. 37] He is referenced herein only when necessary.

³ Unless required by the context, family and claimed family members of James Brown will be referred to by first names only. Forlando is the son of Terry, a son of James Brown.

Bob and Adele Provide Assistance with the Transition of Management. . . Pending Appeal
[Comp., pp. 45-47]

The Duty to Defend James Brown's Right to Control Succession in his Estate,
Grandchildren's Trust and the "I Feel Good" Trust [Comp., pp. 47-48]

The complaint alleges that Bauknight has a conflict of interest because of his loyalty to the James Brown Legacy Trust (Legacy Trust) and its beneficiaries, and his rejection of offers to minor beneficiary Plaintiffs of Richland County Case 2010-CP-40-4900 (Richland 4900) while preventing them from having a guardian *ad litem* (GAL). [Complaint, pp. 3, 4, 47] It also alleges that Bauknight failed to curb fraud on the court of Forlando and Terry. [Complaint, pp. 48-55]

The complaint asserts that Bauknight, acting under color of State Authority, has falsely accused Buchanan and Pope of the federal crime of intentionally overstating the value of Brown's music empire by \$79 million in IRS filings for the improper purpose of obtaining a \$5 million commission. [Complaint, p. 55] The complaint also asserts that Bauknight improperly involved the Estate/2000 Trust in FOIA suits against its interest. [Complaint, p. 56, 57]

The complaint asserts that the 2012 Richland 4900 settlement with Buchanan should be declared void, and asserts:

271. The State is now asking to be out of Case 4900. On information and belief, Russell should not use Brown's money to fight a fight which did not need to happen. [Complaint, p. 58]

The complaint asserts Bauknight made incorrect claims to the Supreme Court, including:

1. Bauknight claimed the Estate/2000 Trust has no corpus "to speak of;"
2. Bauknight claimed Copyright Termination Rights are "all this case is about;"
3. Bauknight claimed Tommie Rae's Elective Share claim was a "slam dunk;"
4. Bauknight claimed that if Tommie Rae and her son James did not get the Termination Rights, the settling parties would;
5. Bauknight claimed that the value of Brown's music empire was less than \$4.7 million. [Complaint, pp. 51, 60, 61]

The complaint seeks a discretionary amount for the period November 20, 2007 through June 13, 2013 which, with the \$1,473,550 liquidated amount, would not exceed approximately \$2.8 million. ⁴ [Comp. Ex. 4, p. 1] The complaint demanded a jury trial, and attachments to the complaint provided additional information.[Comp. Exs. 1-6] With the complaint Appellant filed a motion and supporting documentation requesting expedited relief and the appointment of a SA/special trustee (SA/ST) to represent the Estate/Trust in Appellant's claim. [Mot.,6/9/13, pp 1-4]

On June 12, 2013 the case was removed to the Aiken Court of Common Pleas by the Honorable Sue H. Roe, Probate Judge. [Removal order, 6/11/13 p. 1]

On June 13, 2013 Judge Early issued an administrative order related to this case and other James Brown cases. [Mot. Alter, 1/27/14, p. 23] The order directed that Buchanan and Pope not participate in any James Brown case other than their own fee claims. It directed the Aiken Clerk of Court to return any document filed by Buchanan or Pope in a case other than their fee claims. [Id.]

On July 6, 2013 Respondents and Bauknight, individually, moved to dismiss the complaint in this case. [Mots. Dismiss, pp., 1,2]

In November 2013 Appellant moved for summary judgment. [Mot., 11/24/13, pp. 1-10; Aff., Pope 9/19/13, Ex. A, pp. 1-12].

⁴ Exhibit 4 to the complaint clarifies that the total fee sought in June 2013, including partial PR/Trustee fee contract amount through May 26, 2009; interest to June 2013; and the additional discretionary fee covering her service from November 2007 until May 8, 2013 did not exceed approximately \$2.8 million. [Comp. Ex. 4, p. 1]

By orders dated January 7, 2014 and March 10, 2014 the circuit court dismissed all claims against Bauknight, individually, and all claims against Respondents except for the relief sought in the petition for allowance of claim.⁵ [Order, Jg. Early, 1/7/14, 3/10/14] Respondents were directed to answer, and did so on January 17, 2014. [Ans., 1/17/14, pp. 1-3]

In May 2014 Appellant moved for partial summary judgment as to the \$47,972 unpaid 2007 SA fee; \$1,473,550 partial PR/Trustee fee; and interest on both amounts. [Mot. PSJ, 5/19/14] Appellant provided documentation for the summary judgment motions and asserted:

...d. Failure to grant the requested relief to Plaintiff where the Court has double approved a \$500,000 payment to [Buchanan], whose service to the Estate/2000 Trust was always joint with Plaintiff, would violate movant's Due Process, Equal Protection and Probate Code Rights. [Mot. PSJ, p.3]

Respondents opposed the partial summary judgment motion; filed a copy of the complaint in Richland 4900; and stated:

... [Pope] seeks a ruling that the existence of any pending litigation by Defendants against Plaintiff . . . should not delay payment of her fees. . . Defendants take the position that . . . , any award of fees to the Plaintiff at this point in the litigation is extremely premature. Return, Estate/2000 Trust, 6/20/14, p 2.

And:

Defendants acknowledge that under the [Payment Order] [Pope] and Mr. Buchanan were to be paid an award of fees and costs related to the period prior to November 20, 2007, subject to interest at the legal rate if not paid within 60 days of the January 8, 2008 Order. Defendants acknowledge that such payment was not made to Plaintiff. . . [viewed under Rule 56]. [Defendants] are entitled to money damages in [Richland 4900] in an amount that exceeds Plaintiff's claim for [SA] fees. Therefore partial summary judgment as to the payment of [SA] fees should be denied.

⁵ Efforts to overturn the dismissal orders were unsuccessful, and the dismissals were affirmed in opinions with no precedential value. [Mot., Reply Memo, dtd. 3/24/14, pp. 1- 7; Order, Jg. Early, 6/2/14.]

Return, Estate Trust, 6/20/14, at p.

And:

Defendants acknowledge that the [Payment Order] found it appropriate and reasonable for Plaintiff and Mr. Buchanan to “continue to receive fees and costs on an hourly basis. ”. . .

... The basis of the disallowance followed the Supreme Court’s opinion in *Wilson v. Dallas*...

The Defendants continue to take the position that Plaintiff is not entitled to fees, commissions, or costs for the period from November 20, 2007 through May 26, 2009. . . Ret., Estate, 6/20/14, pp.10-11

On June 30, 2014 Appellant filed documents asserting that Respondents’ music manager, Peter Afterman, was helping Tommie Rae and her son James secure U.S. royalties devised by James Brown to Respondent 2000 Trust. [Memo., 6/30/14; Ltr. Toberoff, 9/23/13; Aff. Pope, 6/30/14] Appellant requested an expedited summary judgment ruling and alleged:

Without asking for offset in its Answer, the Defendant Estate/2000 Trust now asks this Court to further damage Plaintiff by not paying her even funds earned in 2007. This is manifestly unjust under the facts. Memo., 7/2/14

In August 2014 Respondents moved for a confidentiality and protective order, which Appellant opposed. [Mot. 8/6/14; Aff. Pope, 9/6/14, pp; Email, Jowers, 2/13/08; Email, Jones, 5/20/10]

On August 19, 2014 Respondents moved for partial summary judgment that Plaintiff was not entitled to any compensation or costs after May 26, 2009. [Def. Mot., PSJ, 8/19/14]

By order dated September 8, 2014 the Aiken Court denied Appellant’s motion to strike an affidavit of Bauknight. [Ord., 9/8/14]

In October 2014 a hearing was held on the summary judgment motions. [Receipt., Clerk 10/28/10; Ltr. Pope to Jg., 10/27/14, pp. 1]

In November 2014 Judge Early advised the parties that he and the Richland 4900 court had *sua sponte* determined to order a joint mediation of this case and Richland 4900 [Email chain, 11/14]

By order dated December 2, 2014, the Aiken Court ruled:

Plaintiff Adele Pope's motion for partial summary judgment for attorney fees and Russell L. Bauknight, Trustee cross motions for partial summary judgment are denied – material issues of fact exist which preclude summary judgment. Form 4 Ord., 12/2/14

Appellant moved to alter, amend or vacate the December 2 order. [Mot., filed 12/12/14]

The motion was denied. [Ord., 1/20/15]

On January 13, 2015 Appellant filed a motion to require Bauknight and principals and successors of the Legacy Trust, a Richland 4900 Plaintiff, to attend the announced mediation. The motion attached the following:

1. A letter of Lewis & Babcock, FOIA counsel for the Legacy Trust, dated January 6, 2013, asserting that the Legacy Trust had no legal existence since May 8, 2013; [Ltr., L&B, 1/6/13, pp. 1-2]
2. An email chain among Powell Goldstein (PG) law firm, Sr. Asst. AG Sonny Jones, and others dtd. November 15, 2011. [Email, Chain, 11/15/11, pp. 1 – 4; Motion Pope to Require, 1/13/15]

On January 14, 2015, the Aiken Court signed the joint mediation order [Ord. 1/14/15]

In March 2015, the circuit court orally denied Appellant's motion to require principals and successors to Richland 4900 Plaintiff Legacy Trust to attend mediation.

On May 6, 2015 the Aiken Court issued a status report to the Supreme Court related to the James Brown cases pending in Aiken County. [Status Report, 5/6/15, pp. 1-7, Exs. 2 and 3].

Among other statements, the Aiken Court reported that Bauknight had reduced James Brown's debt to the New York Teachers' Association (TIAA) from \$14 million to zero, and that the Court believed Appellant's 2007 SA fee claim was \$2 million and her PR/Trustee commission claim \$5 million. [Status Report, pp. 4-7] The Aiken Court stated it had determined that Tommie Rae was James Brown's spouse, and that a consent order confirming that Tommie Rae's son James was a child of James Brown was being circulated. [Status Report, pp. 2-3] The Court stated that no settlement had been presented to the Court, and that the Court was not aware of any discussions of a settlement since the *Wilson v. Dallas* decision. [Status Report, p. 6]

Buchanan and Pope were not invited by the Supreme Court to respond to the Aiken Court's status report, and did not. Several Richland 4900 Plaintiffs did file responses, each of which asserted that portions of the status report were erroneous. [Response Bodman, 5/13/15; Response Donsbach, 5/15/15; Response Barr, 5/18/15]

The joint Richland 4900/Aiken 1337 mediation was held in October 2015 and did not result in a settlement. [Report, ADR, p. 1, 2]

On January 22, 2016 Appellant filed a status report. [Status Report, 1/22/16, pp. 1-6, w/letter mailing to Clerk, Judge Early]

On February 23, 2016 Appellant filed a motion asking for certain relief, clarification and judicial notice. [Mot., 2/23/16, pp. 1-4, Exs. A-C]

On March 2, 2016 Respondents moved to quash notice of the deposition of James Richardson, Esq. scheduled for March 4, and sought sanctions against Appellant, but the deposition took place and Richardson testified (by deposition) at trial. [Mot., 3/2/16, pp. 1-2]

In March 2016 the Supreme Court assigned Richland 4900 and two Richland County James Brown FOIA cases to Judge Early, and provided that he have statewide jurisdiction over the three cases. [Ord. 3/24/16]

In April 2016, Richland 4900 Plaintiffs and Respondents moved jointly to consolidate discovery in Richland 4900 and Aiken 1337. [Mot., 4/11/16; Return, Mot.,pp. 1-16] Appellant opposed the motion, which was not granted. [Ord. 7/16/16]

In 2016 and 2017 the Attorney General moved to prevent depositions of various Attorney General staff members, and also moved for protective orders related to depositions taken, including those of now-Governor McMaster, Sr. Asst. Attorney General Havird “Sonny” Jones (AG Jones), Asst. Attorney General Mary Frances Jowers (AG Jowers) and others. [Response to Mot., 4/10/16, pp. 1 -2] Over objection of Appellant, the Aiken Court granted a number of protective orders to the Governor, the Solicitor General, other AG staff, SA/ST David Sojourner, Esq., Kenneth Wingate, Esq., and others. [Ret./Opp. Motion of AG Wilson,1/23/17, p. 1-10 ; Plf.’s Ret/Mot. as to 30(b)(6) Depositions, 1/23/17, pp. 1, 2; Pl. Ret/Opp.Mot. Quash Subpoenas, Depos.AG Matthews, AG Waters, McIntosh and Cook AG Smith ,etc, p. 1- 4; Mot., 1/17/17; Mot. 1/23/17, pp. 1-4; Response and Obj., 2/5/17; Ret. Opp. 2/20/17; Orders, Jg. Early, 6/16/17, 6/9/17, 1/20/17, 3/1/17]

On September 1, 2016 the Aiken Court filed a confidentiality order and an administrative order, and Appellant moved to alter, amend or vacate both. [Order, Jg. Early, 9/1/16;Mot. Alter, 9/16/16]

In September 2016 Appellant moved to disqualify Bauknight and his counsel in this case only, and for related relief, based on his continued service to Tommie Rae and other Legacy Trust beneficiaries. [Mot. to Disqualify]

On October 11, 2016 Appellant disclosed her experts and a summary of their opinions, and on November 28, 2016 Respondents disclosed their experts. [Designation, Experts]

In October 2016 now-Governor Henry McMaster was deposed. [Depos., McMaster, p. 1-3]

By order dated December 16, 2016 and filed January 3, 2017, the circuit court denied Appellant's motion to disqualify Bauknight and his counsel in this case only, and for related relief. [Ord., 12/16/16] Appellant's motion to alter, amend, or vacate the order was denied. [Mot., Alter, 1/17/17; Ord. 1/3/17]

On January 3, 2017 Appellant served a motion and supporting affidavit related to Respondents' experts. [Mot. 1/3/17, pp. 1-8; Aff. Pope, 1/17/17, re: experts]

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