THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 07 2020**

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2013-CP-02-1337

---

Appellate Case No. 2019-000362

---

Adele J. Pope, ..... Appellant,

v.

Estate of James Brown and The James Brown 2000  
Irrevocable Trust, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

J. David Black, SC Bar No. 68499  
Kirsten E. Small, SC Bar No. 75681  
NEXSEN PRUET, LLC  
1230 Main Street, Suite 700  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
Tel.: 803.771.8900  
[DBlack@nexsenpruet.com](mailto:DBlack@nexsenpruet.com)

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

One of the more glaring missteps related to the Christie’s Sale auction was the misguided attempt to sell Mr. Brown’s GRAMMY® award. As the Supreme Court explained:

---

<sup>14</sup> Ms. Pope’s argument that the circuit court was collaterally estopped from making this finding is addressed in Part III(A), *infra*.

“[Ms. Pope] also unsuccessfully attempted to sell Brown’s GRAMMY award at auction; the process was halted only because officials from the National Academy of Recording Arts and Sciences reclaimed the award after informing [Ms. Pope] that it was their longstanding policy that the award could not be sold by recipients or anyone acting on their behalf.

*Wilson*, 403 S.C. at 448–49, 743 S.E.2d at 767.

After the auction, Ms. Pope failed to use the proceeds for their intended purposes. Prior to the auction, on March 24, 2008, Ms. Pope filed a “Hardship Request for Extension to Pay Estate Taxes,” in which she informed the IRS, under penalty of perjury, that “[t]he PR/Trustees intend to make a substantial deposit toward the Estate Taxes when the net proceeds of the Christie’s sale are received.” (R. p. 2666 (Def. Ex. 14, at 5).) However, “upon receipt of the auction proceeds, Ms. Pope paid \$10,000 to the IRS as estate taxes, *and a substantially larger sum to herself.*” (R. p. 329 (Fee Order, at 38 n.8 (emphasis added)).) The payment Ms. Pope made to herself was one of the reasons the Supreme Court removed her for cause. *See Wilson*, 403 S.C. at 448–49, 743 S.E.2d at 767.

#### **F. Unsupported Valuation of the Estate**

One large issue throughout this litigation has been whether Ms. Pope appropriately valued the Estate for purposes of the estate tax return, IRS Form 706 (the “Return”). After several extensions, Ms. Pope filed the Return on September 24, 2008, attributing a value of approximately \$84 million (\$100 million total value, minus the amount owed on the Pullman Bond) to the Estate. (R. p. 2716.) Ms. Pope has steadfastly defended the \$100 million valuation for many years. However, the circuit court found

“no evidence to support Ms. Pope’s valuation.”<sup>15</sup> (R. p. 337 (Fee Order, at 46).)

The evidence at trial showed that the \$100 million value was a fabrication concocted by Buddy Dallas and Terry Cox. Mr. Cox testified that Mr. Dallas directed him to draft a sham letter of intent to purchase the James Brown estate for \$100 million. (R. p. 338.) Mr. Dallas picked \$100 million for the value of Mr. Brown’s estate based on the fact that Elvis Presley’s estate had recently sold for a value in that range. (R. p. 338.) The sham letter of intent was then used as the basis for an “Inventory and Appraisal,” which wrongly characterized the letter as a “firm offer.” (R. p. 339.)

Ms. Pope has repeatedly touted the sham letter of intent as a firm offer. The circuit court found, however, that “[t]he letter of intent was never an offer, and Ms. Pope should have known it.” (R. p. 339 (Fee Order, at 48).) In fact, the evidence at trial showed that Ms. Pope was aware, after she became PR/Trustee, that the \$100 million valuation was overstated and that the real value was probably closer to \$35 to \$65 million. (R. p. 339.)

Ms. Pope also claimed that her valuation was supported by a formula submitted to the circuit court in November 2007:

- 1) 1 year royalties based on 5 yr. M&T Average
- 2) PLUS 50% of Gross known Performance Contract from 2006
- 3) X – a figure recommended by accountant within range of 12.5 – 14
- 4) LESS payoff amount due M&T Bank as of date of death

---

<sup>15</sup> Ms. Pope’s argument that the circuit court was precluded from making this finding is addressed in Part III(D), *infra*.

5) EQUALS date-of-death value of Royalties, Image, Name and Persona.

(R. p. 2642 (Def. Ex. 13).) Ms. Pope provided only a vague explanation of where this formula came from:

Well, it was from everything that Judge Buchanan and I have learned from Mr. Dallas, Mr. Cannon, and other inquiries and other statements that were made for the entire period up to November 15, 2007. It was from all of the financial information that had come to us since August 10. And it was from essentially everything we had been able to put our hands on as of that date. And there was a lot of talk, just talk, about twelve times royalties was the industries standard, but James Brown was not just a regular guy. He was a special guy.

(R. p. 1704 (Trial Tr. 256).) The circuit court concluded that Ms. Pope had never offered a credible explanation of the origin of the formula, nor had she offered any expert testimony to support it.<sup>16</sup> This conclusion was supported by the expert testimony of Bradley Sharp, who stated that he had never seen such a valuation. (R. p. 1852 (Trial Tr. 913).)

In contrast, the circuit court determined that the evidence did support Mr. Bauknight's valuation of the Estate, which resulted from a professional valuation by Philpott Ball & Werner. (R. p. 343 (Fee Order, at 52).) Moreover, this valuation was independently vetted by various teams with the IRS (who, as the circuit court noted, had every incentive to support a higher value).

---

<sup>16</sup> The circuit court excluded the testimony of Ms. Pope's proffered valuation expert, R. B. Alexander, based on its conclusion that he was not qualified. (R. pp. 1934-1939 (Trial Tr. 1984-89).) Ms. Pope has not appealed that ruling.

### **G. Ill-Informed, Self-Interested Opposition to the 2008 Settlement**

The evidence also supports the circuit court's finding that Ms. Pope's opposition to the 2008 Settlement was ill-informed and at least partly self-interested.<sup>17</sup>

First, Ms. Pope acknowledged that she was only "vaguely familiar" with the notion of termination rights at the time of the settlement hearings. (R. p. 1799 (Trial Tr. 505).) But rather than retain an entertainment law attorney with experience in termination rights, Ms. Pope attempted to make herself an "expert" in this esoteric field. As a result of her inexperience, Ms. Pope failed to understand that the 2008 Settlement did have certain advantages with respect to termination rights. The circuit court credited the expert testimony of Roger Miller, who explained the advantages of a settlement that combined the termination rights and contributed them to the Estate and Trust. (R. pp. 331-332 (Fee Order, at 40-41).)

Second, Ms. Pope's opposition to the 2008 Settlement "was linked, at least in part, to its removal of her as a PR/Trustee." (R. p. 333 (Fee Order, at 42).) In particular, the court

---

<sup>17</sup> Ms. Pope contends that it was improper for the circuit court to conclude that she breached her fiduciary duty in opposing the 2008 Settlement, given that her opposition was vindicated by the decision in *Wilson*. Pope Br. at 41-43. In making this argument, Ms. Pope misses the point of the circuit court's reasoning. The circuit court recognized that *Wilson* "is the law of the case for this proceeding." (R. p. 333 (Fee Order, at 42).) However, the issue before the circuit court was not whether Ms. Pope's opposition to the 2008 Settlement was ultimately vindicated but rather whether she exercised the diligence and care required of a fiduciary in deciding to oppose the Settlement. The evidence amply supports the circuit court's finding that she did not.

noted that Ms. Pope’s offer to settle her challenge to the 2008 Settlement was conditioned on her being reappointed as a trustee. (R. p. 3096 (Def. Ex. 34).) Thus, while Ms. Pope’s settlement offer did include provisions that would have improved the situation of the Estate and Trust, her insistence on her own reappointment violated her fiduciary duty of impartiality and showed that she was placing her interests before the interests of the Estate and Trust. (R. pp. 333-334 (Fee Order, at 42-43).)

## **II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS ADMISSION OR EXCLUSION OF EVIDENCE**

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a ‘manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.’” *Burke v. Republic Parking Sys., Inc.*, 421 S.C. 553, 558, 808 S.E.2d 626, 628 (Ct. App. 2017) (quoting *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 262–63, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)). “Determining whether prejudice exists ‘depends on the circumstances[,]’ and ‘the materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.’” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Taylor*, 333 S.C. 159, 172, 508 S.E.2d 870, 876 (1998)). “Prejudice in this context means ‘there is a reasonable probability the ... verdict was influenced by the wrongly admitted or excluded evidence.’” *Id.* (quoting *Vaught v. A.O. Hardee & Sons, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 475, 480, 623 S.E.2d 373, 375 (2005)). None of the evidentiary errors asserted by Ms. Pope warrants reversal under this standard.

### **A. The Circuit Court Properly Excluded Ms. Pope's Rebuttal Deposition Designations**

Ms. Pope first contends that the circuit court failed to consider all of the evidence presented in her rebuttal case, arguing that "the record ... shows that Appellant offered testimony from more than a dozen witnesses by deposition on rebuttal." Pope Br. at 35-36. This argument fails for two reasons. First, Ms. Pope failed to preserve the error. Second, the proffered deposition designations were properly excluded from Ms. Pope's rebuttal case.

#### *1. This Issue Is Not Preserved*

"It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review." *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Moreover, "an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector." *Id.* Ms. Pope's claim of error regarding the deposition designations is not preserved for appellate review because the admissibility of any particular portion of those designations was never raised to, and ruled on, by the circuit court.

Ms. Pope contends that the circuit court "accepted [the designations]. No ruling was issued to exclude any of this testimony." Pope Br. at 36 (citing Trial Tr. 2005-11). The trial transcript is clear, however, that the circuit court refused to admit the designations into evidence *en masse*. Rather, the court accepted Ms. Pope's *proffer* of the designations but stated that it would rule on their admissibility only if and when Ms. Pope attempted

to use them as evidence:

MR. BUNDY: Your Honor, before I call a witness I'd like to enter -- we want to put in some deposition designations. ...

THE COURT: Any objection?

MR. NEWSOME: Yes, Your Honor. We've already moved to exclude some of these depositions. We would extend that motion to these additional depositions that have just been presented to us. ...

...

... We believe that the plaintiff is seeking to submit documents that are well outside the scope of reply. ... They aren't relevant to this case.

...

THE COURT: All right. Here's what I'm going to do. I'm going to allow him to offer it, but I'm not going to rule on it one way or the other presently until I've had a chance to see what it is.

...

MR. BUNDY: Okay. All right. So I understand, these -- you have accepted those designations --

THE COURT: I have not -- *I have not accepted them as evidence.* I'm taking them -- they're given to me this morning. It's a wealth of material and ... *I can't rule on it en masse. If something individually comes up, make your objection, I'll rule on it.*

(R. pp. 1943-1948 (Trial Tr. 2005-10 (emphasis added)).)

Thus, the circuit court plainly did not admit the deposition designations into evidence but rather stated that he would rule on their admissibility only as they were raised in the course of Ms. Pope's rebuttal testimony. Ms. Pope's brief does not identify any rulings by the circuit court regarding any specific designation. Consequently, the issue is not preserved for appeal.

2. *The Proffered Designations Are Irrelevant*

In addition to being unpreserved, this claim of error is meritless. “The admission of reply testimony is within the sound discretion of the trial judge[.]” *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986). “[R]eply testimony should be limited to that which refutes or rebuts testimony presented by the defendant.” *State v. Prather*, 422 S.C. 96, 105, 810 S.E.2d 419, 423 (Ct. App. 2017); see *McGaha v. Mosley*, 283 S.C. 268, 276, 322 S.E.2d 461, 466 (Ct. App. 1984) (“Reply testimony should be limited to rebuttal of matters raised in defense; it should not be used to complete plaintiff’s case in chief.”).

Ms. Pope claims that the designated testimony was necessary “to rebut the testimony of Bauknight that he and Peter Afterman had benefitted Brown’s 2000 trust” and to show that she and Mr. Buchanan “brought far greater experience” and “provided greater benefits” to the Estate and Trust, at less cost, than Bauknight. Pope Br. at 36-37. To the extent Mr. Bauknight’s performance has any bearing on Ms. Pope’s claim for compensation, the proffered designations are irrelevant. They included testimony by now-Governor McMaster “that he did not sue [Ms. Pope] in Richland 4900” and by current Attorney General Wilson “that he provided no oversight of Bauknight.” *Id.* at 36. Such testimony has no bearing on whether the Estate and Trust benefitted under Bauknight’s administration (the ostensible purpose of the designation), and has even less to do with the question of whether Ms. Pope should receive any compensation for her work as PR/Trustee.

Ms. Pope also contends that deposition testimony of attorney Wallace Lightsey supports her testimony “regarding intellectual property matters” and “refutes the claims of Bauknight,” though she provides no explanation of how. Lastly, Ms. Pope contends that the deposition testimony of attorneys David Sojourner and Rita Caughman show that Ms. Pope, “with a small number of highly-qualified and efficient attorneys and experts,” brought great benefits to the Estate and Trust, at low cost. Pope Br. at 36-37. However, neither Mr. Sojourner nor Ms. Caughman offered any testimony regarding these matters.

**B. Ms. Pope’s September 2017 Settlement Demand Was Properly Admitted**

Ms. Pope next contends that the circuit court abused its discretion by admitting into evidence a settlement demand she made in September 2017, offering to settle this case and Richland 4900 for a total of \$19 million, of which \$10 million would go to a charitable foundation and the remainder would go to Ms. Pope. (R. p. 2968 (Def. Ex 87).) She maintains that the offer should have been excluded under Rule 408, SCRE.

As an initial matter, Ms. Pope has waived her objection. She objected to admission of the settlement demand when it was introduced during trial. (R. p. 2114 (Trial Tr. 2300).) However, Ms. Pope subsequently filed a motion for directed verdict, in which she discussed the demand, how it could have been funded, and how the settlement funds would have been distributed. (R. pp. 1267-1268 (Mot. for Directed Verdict, at 10-11.)) By making use of the settlement demand after it was admitted over her objection, Ms. Pope

waived any further challenge. *Cf. Burke v. AnMed Health*, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”).

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